Case No. 74912

In the Supreme Court of Nevada

CRISTINA PAULOS,

Appellant,

vs.

FCH1, LLC; LAS VEGAS METROPOLITAN POLICE DEPARTMENT; JEANNIE HOUSTON; and AARON BACA,

Respondents.

Electronically Filed Oct 24 2018 12:49 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

APPEAL

from the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County The Honorable ROB BARE, District Judge District Court Case No. A716850

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

DANIEL F. POLSENBERG (SBN 2376) ABRAHAM G. SMITH (SBN 13,250) LEWIS ROCA ROTHGERBER CHRISTIE LLP 3993 Howard Hughes Parkway, Suite 600 Las Vegas, Nevada 89169 (702) 949-8200

Pro Bono Attorneys for Appellant

NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE

JURISDICTION

Cristina Paulos appeals from a final judgment dismissing her claims. NRAP 3A(b)(1). Defendants Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department and Aaron Baca (together, Metro) served notice of entry of the dismissal on December 14, 2017, and Paulos timely appealed on January 12, 2018. (7 App. 1687; 7 App. 1683.)

ROUTING STATEMENT

This Court should retain the appeal to clarify that "reasonable care" under Nevada common law is not the same issue as the "reasonableness" of a seizure under the Fourth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution. This, the second of Paulos's issues presented, is a question of statewide importance, NRAP 17(a)(12), and is likely to recur in other cases in which plaintiffs bring both federal claims under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 and negligence claims under state law.¹ This issue was raised at

¹ Paulos acknowledges, however, that the appeal may be independently resolved on her first issue, on which there is overwhelming consensus and binding precedent: that an alternative ground for a federal district court's decision, which is not affirmed on appeal, is not "finally decided" for issue preclusion. If this case is assigned to the Court of Appeals, that court could resolve the appeal on the first issue without reaching the second. *See Dolorfino v. Univ. Med. Ctr. of S. Nev.*, 134 Nev., Adv. Op. 79, at 4 n.1, ____ P.3d ____, ___ n.1 (Oct. 4, 2018) (reversing order of dis-

4 App. 837–38, initially decided at 4 App. 977:10–18, $\P\P$ 6–7, and decided on reconsideration at 7 App. 1680:3–7, \P 3.

PRINCIPAL ISSUES PRESENTED

1. When a district court's decision rests on alternative grounds, and an appellate court affirms on just one ground, is the district court's decision preclusive for the alternative ground not relied upon?

2. For issue preclusion, is the "reasonableness" of a seizure under the Fourth Amendment of the U.S. Constitution the same issue as the exercise of "reasonable care" for a negligence claim under state common law?

3. Does Nevada's discretionary-act immunity in NRS 41.032(2) categorically bar a claim for negligent training or supervision?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from an order of dismissal by the Honorable Rob Bare, District Judge of the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County.

missal on appellant's first argument and declining to address other arguments).

Cristina Paulos bears the literal scars of a tremendous injustice.

While suffering a psychosis on the Palms' property, Cristina Paulos was pinned to the blistering summer asphalt by a Metro officer and a Palms security guard and left there for more than five minutes. She was handcuffed for four of those minutes; backup officers were on scene for more than two-and-a-half minutes. No one moved Paulos off of the burning pavement. Paulos's delirium occludes much of her memory of the incident, but the pain remains searingly clear:

> I also remember being pushed in the hot pavement, really hard and my face burning. I remember the sensation on my face. And I remember being pushed hard. I remember not being able to get up. I remember being burnt... on the sidewalk because I wasn't allowed to stand up. I remember wanting to stand up and not being able to stand up. I asked to stand up, and I remember people telling me, no, you can't stand up....

(4 App. 901, at 76:7-18.) As a result, Paulos suffered second- and third-

degree burns that cause excruciating pain and have permanently dis-

figured her.

Federal District Judge Mahan rejected her federal constitutional

claims. Paulos argued that she was seized with excessive force under

the Fourth Amendment, but Judge Mahan granted the officers qualified

immunity, a decision that the Ninth Circuit affirmed because no Supreme Court or circuit precedent clearly established the unconstitutionality of the officers' actions. Judge Mahan also considered Paulos's seizure "reasonable" under the Fourth Amendment, but the Ninth Circuit did not affirm on those grounds.

Now the state district court has dismissed Paulos's claims under state law on the notion that this unreviewed alternative ground creates issue preclusion that bars a negligence claim against Metro or the Palms.

Paulos appeals.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. The Burns: Paulos is Pinned to Scorching Asphalt for <u>More than Five Minutes</u>

In midsummer 2011, Paulos suffered a psychotic episode that made her lose control of her car. (4 App. 791, *Paulos v. FCH1, LLC (Paulos I*), 2:13-CV-1546 JCM PAL, 2015 WL 1119972, at *9 (D. Nev. Mar. 12, 2015); 4 App. 908, 915, at 101:19–25, 131:22–132:5; 7 App. 1676:3–4, ¶ 1; *see also* 7 App. 1560–61, at 40:7–42:10 (no drugs or alcohol); 7 App. 1600, ¶ 11(e).) After hitting two cars near an exit from the Palms, she got out of her car, briefly left, and then returned to what she thought was her car. (4 App. 915, at 131:22–132:5; 7 App. 1676:3–4, ¶ 1.) In her delirium, she did not realize that she was actually getting into one of the cars that she had hit. (4 App. 897:6–15.) The owner told an arriving police officer, Aaron Baca, that Paulos was trying to steal the car. (4 App. 797:16–18, *Paulos I*, 2015 WL 1119972, at *5.)

Officer Baca confronted Paulos and, he claims, Paulos lunged at him. (4 App. 793:1-3, Paulos I, 2015 WL 1119972, at *2.) Officer Baca pushed Paulos, eventually forcing her to the scorching asphalt pavement. (3 App. 701, at 15:16:57–15:17:02; 7 App. 1600–01, ¶ 11(f); 4 App. 793:6-9, Paulos I, 2015 WL 1119972, at *2.) Palms security arrived just seconds after Paulos went down, and she was handcuffed a minute later. (3 App. 701, at 15:17:28–15:18:38; 7 App. 1600–01, ¶ 11(f); 4 App. 793:15-17, Paulos I, 2015 WL 1119972, at *2.) Paulos nonetheless remained pinned to the asphalt for another four minutes, at least twoand-a-half of which was after backup from Metro arrived—a total of five-and-a-half minutes—before being moved to the nearby grassy area. (3 App. 701, at 15:19:50, 15:22:30; 4 App. 793:18–794:3, Paulos I, 2015) WL 1119972, at *2.)

Paulos was never charged with any crime. Paramedics transported her to UMC to treat her psychosis and her burns. (3 App. 714, at 40:7–10; 7 App. 1569, at 16:17–23; 4 App. 794:12–17, *Paulos I*, 2015 WL 1119972, at *3.) After several days, it became apparent that Paulos had suffered second- and third-degree burns across her body—from her face down to her legs—requiring multiple skin-removal and skin-graft surgeries. (7 App. 1572, at 27:1–23.)

B. <u>The Lawsuit in State Court</u>

Paulos sued Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department and the responding officers, Baca, Jake Von Goldberg, and Jeffrey Swan; and the Palms (FCH1, LLC) and its security guard, Jeannie Houston, in state court. (4 App. 757; 7 App. 1677, ¶ 1.) Paulos brought negligence and false-imprisonment claims under state law, as well as claims under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 against Metro and the officers for Fourth Amendment violations. (4 App. 774.)

C. <u>Removal and Dismissal of the Federal Claim</u>

The defendants removed the case to federal court, and the officers asked for qualified immunity. (4 App. 787; 7 App. 1677–78, ¶ 3, 6; 4 App. 797:16–18, *Paulos I*, 2015 WL 1119972, at *5.) There are two ave-

nues to immunity: (1) the conduct alleged does not violate the Constitution; or (2) the constitutional right was not clearly established at the time of its violation. *See Pearson v. Callahan*, 555 U.S. 223, 232 (2009).

District Judge Mahan dismissed the officers, taking both paths to qualified immunity. The court ruled that the officers had not committed an "unreasonable seizure" under the Fourth Amendment because the force used to restrain Paulos was not constitutionally excessive in light of Paulos' struggle. (4 App. 803:22–27, Paulos I, 2015 WL 1119972, at *9.) Alternatively, the court held that "[e]ven if officer Baca had used excessive force," that constitutional violation was not "clearly established" because no case holds that "restraining a suspect on asphalt hot enough to cause severe burns violates the Fourth Amendment." (4 App. 804:15–16, 807:9–12, Paulos I, 2015 WL 1119972, at *10, 12.) The court distinguished cases where the victim complained about burning because Paulos had merely "screamed in pain" and had yelled incoherently before and after being held on the asphalt. (4 App. 806:14–17, Paulos I, 2015 WL 1119972, at *11.)

The court accordingly dismissed Metro and rejected supplemental jurisdiction over Paulos's state-law claims. (4 App. 807–08, *Paulos I*,

2015 WL 1119972, at *12.)

D. <u>The Ninth Circuit's Narrow Decision</u>

The Ninth Circuit affirmed, but only on the ground that the con-

stitutional right was not clearly established:

No decision from the Supreme Court or this Circuit clearly establishes that keeping a suspect on hot asphalt for approximately two minutes and forty seconds after backup officers arrive on the scene constitutes excessive force when the suspect does not inform the officers that the pavement is hurting her.

(6 App. 1381, *Paulos v. FCH1, LLC (Paulos II*), 685 Fed. App'x 581, 582 (9th Cir. 2017).) The Ninth Circuit declined to address whether the officers used constitutionally excessive force. (6 App. 1380, *Paulos II*, 685 Fed. App'x at 582 ("We exercise our discretion to proceed immediately to whether any constitutional right at issue her was clearly established.").) Similarly, the Ninth Circuit affirmed Metro's dismissal not because the officers had executed a reasonable seizure but because Paulos "did not provide sufficient evidence of a pattern of similar, allegedly unconstitutional conduct," such that Metro's "mere failure to discipline its officers does not amount to ratification of their allegedly unconstitutional actions." (6 App. 1381, *Paulos II*, 685 Fed. App'x at 582 (internal citations and quotation marks omitted).)

E. Dismissal in State Court for Issue Preclusion

Pending the Ninth Circuit appeal, Paulos refiled her suit in state district court, raising claims of negligence and negligent training and supervision against Metro and claims of negligence and false imprisonment against the Palms. (3 App. 606.)

The district court dismissed Paulos's claim against Metro for negligent training and supervision but initially opted not to dismiss Paulos's negligence claim. (4 App. 976:24–28, 977:10–18, ¶¶ 4, 6–7.)

After the Ninth Circuit's decision, however, the district court reconsidered. (7 App. 1680:23–1681:3, ¶¶ 1–2.) Now, the court held, issue preclusion barred recovery under a common-law negligence theory because "Judge Mahan found that Officer Baca's actions were reasonable." (7 App. 1680:3–7, ¶ 3.) According to the district court, the issue before Judge Mahan was identical to Paulos's negligence claim and his finding had become final. (7 App. 1680:6–9, ¶¶ 3–4.) The court dismissed the Metro defendants and the Palms defendants, who had joined in Metro's motion. (7 App. 1681:1–3, ¶ 2.)

9

Paulos appealed. (7 App. 1683.) In the meantime, the dismissal leaves Paulos vulnerable to medical providers' efforts to collect Paulos's crushing medical debt. (3 App. 620, ¶ 24.)

<u>Summary of the Argument</u>

If the judgment in one lawsuit stands on an issue that you litigated and lost, you don't get to relitigate the same issue in a second suit. But if the issues in the two cases are different, or an appellate court affirms the first judgment for a different reason, no bar applies. The district court ignored these principles in dismissing Ms. Paulos's complaint.

This Court should reverse for either of two straightforward reasons: (1) Judge Mahan's finding of "reasonableness" did not become final when the Ninth Circuit affirmed on an alternative ground; and (2) the reasonableness of a seizure under the Fourth Amendment is not the same issue as the exercise of reasonable care for negligence.

The district court likewise erred in dismissing Paulos's other claims. As the Palms' dismissal was contingent on Metro's, a reversal would reinstate Paulos's claims against both Metro and the Palms. Even if Metro is out on issue preclusion, though, the federal court de-

10

cided no issue relating to the *Palms*, so the district court erred in holding that the Palms could not be independently liable for its own torts. And the dismissal of Paulos's claim for Metro's negligent training and supervision. Although the application of discretionary-act immunity depends on the circumstances of each case, the district court considered such claims categorically barred by a misreading of this Court's decision in *Martinez v. Maruszczak*, 123 Nev. 433, 168 P.3d 720 (2007).

ARGUMENT

Standard of Review: The application of issue preclusion is a question of law that this Court reviews *de novo*. *Alcantara v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.*, 130 Nev. 252, 256, 321 P.3d 912, 914 (2014). When a district court grants summary judgment based on issue preclusion, this Court exercises plenary review, taking the facts in the light most favorable to the appellant. *Bower v. Harrah's Laughlin, Inc.*, 125 Nev. 470, 479–80, 215 P.3d 709, 717 (2009).

I.

ISSUE PRECLUSION DOES NOT BAR PAULOS'S CLAIM

A. <u>Issue Preclusion Requires Finality and Identity</u>

1. Federal Law Applies

When a federal court decides an issue of federal law, federal law governs the preclusive effect of that decision. *Garcia v. Prudential Ins. Co. of Am.*, 129 Nev. 15, 21, 293 P.3d 869, 873 (2013) (citing *Bower*, 125 Nev. at 482, 215 P.3d at 718). As the federal district court and the Ninth Circuit decided only Paulos's § 1983 claims, federal preclusion law governs.

2. The Prior Judgment Must Actually Decide the Same Issue

Issue preclusion exists to keep parties from relitigating issues that prior litigation conclusively resolved. *Taylor v. Sturgell*, 553 U.S. 880, 892 (2008).

The identity of the issues in the two proceedings and the finality of its resolution in the prior proceeding are essential features of this doctrine. It applies only if "(1) the issue at stake was identical in both proceedings; (2) the issue was actually litigated and decided in the prior proceedings; (3) there was a full and fair opportunity to litigate the issue; and (4) the issue was necessary to decide the merits." *Oyeniran v. Holder*, 672 F.3d 800, 806 (9th Cir. 2012).

B. Alternative or Unreviewed Grounds <u>are Not Issue Preclusive</u>

Here, Judge Mahan's decision as to the reasonableness of Paulos's seizure was not a conclusive adjudication—either initially or on appeal.

1. Alternative Grounds are Not Preclusive on Either Ground

"If a judgment of a court of first instance is based on determinations of two issues, either of which standing independently would be sufficient to support the result, the judgment is not conclusive with respect to either issue standing alone." RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF JUDGMENTS § 27 cmt. i (1982). The reason is that a contrary rule would actually *multiply* litigation—contrary to the purpose of preclusion doctrines—because it would force a party to appeal an erroneous ground of decision even in the face of likely affirmance on the alternative ground. *Id.* The Ninth Circuit has adopted this approach. *See In re Ellis*, 674 F.2d 1238, 1250 (9th Cir. 1982) (alternative findings are not "an essential basis" of the trial court's decision). Here, Judge Mahan's qualified-immunity determination rested on alternative grounds: (1) the seizure was reasonable; *or* (2) even if unreasonable, Paulos's constitutional right was not clearly established. Thus, even initially Judge Mahan's decision was not preclusive on the issue of reasonableness.

2. A Ground Not Affirmed is Not Preclusive

After appeal, the absence of preclusion is even clearer: "It is a well-established principle of federal law that if an appellate court considers only one of a lower court's alternative bases for its holding, affirming the judgment without reaching the alternative bases, only the basis that is actually considered can have any preclusive effect in subsequent litigation." City of Colton v. Am. Promotional Events, Inc.-W., 614 F.3d 998, 1004 n.4 (9th Cir. 2010) (quoting Niagara Mohawk Power Corp. v. Tonawanda Band of Seneca Indians, 94 F.3d 747, 754 (2d Cir. 1996) and citing RESTATEMENT, supra, § 27 cmt. o); accord 18 CHARLES ALAN WRIGHT ET AL., FEDERAL PRACTICE AND PROCEDURE § 4421 (3d ed. updated 2017) ("The federal decisions agree with the Restatement view that once an appellate court has affirmed on one ground and passed over another, preclusion does not attach to the ground omitted

from its decision."); *Odom v. Kaizer*, 884 F. Supp. 2d 923, 934–35 (D.N.D. 2012) (applying the rule in a qualified-immunity case).

Here, the Ninth Circuit passed on the question of reasonableness, affirming solely on the basis that Paulos's constitutional right was not clearly established. (6 App. 1380–81, *Paulos II*, 685 Fed. App'x at 582.) So there is no final adjudication of the reasonableness issue. The district court erred in giving it preclusive effect. This Court should reverse.

C. A "Reasonable Seizure" is Not the Same as <u>"Reasonable Care"</u>

The standard for excessive force for seizures under the Fourth Amendment is not the same as Nevada's common-law duty of care. A defendant's "reasonable seizure" can still fall short of discharging that duty, rendering the defendant negligent under state law. The lack of identity between the two issues is an independent basis for reversing the judgment.

1. States Can Define Negligence More Broadly

Federal law tosses back to Nevada the question of whether "reasonable care" for a negligence claim is the same as a "reasonable seizure" under the Fourth Amendment. *See Mulligan v. Nichols*, 835 F.3d 983, 991–92 (9th Cir. 2016) (applying California law).

2. Negligence Covers More than "Excessive Force" in the Fourth Amendment

"The Fourth Amendment's 'reasonableness' standard is not the same as the standard of 'reasonable care' under tort law." *Hayes v. County of San Diego*, 305 P.3d 252, 262–63 (Cal. 2013) (quoting *Billington v. Smith*, 292 F.3d 1177, 1190 (9th Cir. 2002)).² That is because negligence "encompass[es] a broader spectrum of conduct than excessive force claims under the Fourth Amendment." *Mulligan*, 835 F.3d at 991. Excessive force is an unreasonable "intrusion on the individual's Fourth Amendment interests." *County of Los Angeles v. Mendez*, 137 S. Ct. 1539, 1546 (2017). Negligence is the "failure to exercise that degree of care in a given situation which a reasonable man under similar circumstances would exercise." *Driscoll v. Erreguible*, 87 Nev. 97, 101, 482 P.2d 291, 294 (1971).

² *Billington* was abrogated on other grounds by *County of Los Angeles v. Mendez*, 137 S. Ct. 1539 (2017) (imposing a *stricter* standard for excessive-force claims under federal law).

Action can be unreasonable under state law because it is merely careless, even if it is not an unreasonable Fourth Amendment seizure because it is not intentional. In *Brower v. County of Inyo*, for example, the U.S. Supreme Court gave the example of a parked police car that "slips its brake and pins a passerby against a wall." 489 U.S. 593, 596 (1989). Because the Fourth Amendment does not address accidental or "unintended consequences of government action," "it is likely that a tort has occurred, but not a violation of the Fourth Amendment." *Id.* Thus, just because an officer avoids committing a *federal constitutional* tort in an arrest does not mean that the officer has discharged the duty of reasonable care under *state* law.³

It is precisely because simple negligence is a broader standard that proving a negligence claim does not prove a Fourth Amendment violation. *Pauly v. White*, 874 F.3d 1197, 1219–20 (10th Cir. 2017); *Maughon v. Bibb County*, 160 F.3d 658, 660 (11th Cir. 1998); *Yates v. City of Cleveland*, 941 F.2d 444, 447 (6th Cir. 1991); *Estate of Bleck v. City of Alamosa*, 105 F. Supp. 3d 1222, 1227 (D. Colo. 2015)

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