IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

CHRISTINA PAULOS,

Appellant,

Case No.: 74912 Jan 10 2

Electronically Filed Jan 10 2019 05:01 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown

Clerk of Supreme Court

VS.

FCH1, LLC; LAS VEGAS METROPOLITAN POLICE DEPARTMENT; JEANNIE HOUSTON; and AARON BACA,

> Appeal from the Eighth Judicial District Court. The Honorable Rob Bare

Presiding.

Respondents.

RESPONDENTS' ANSWERING BRIEF

Marquis Aurbach Coffing

Craig R. Anderson, Esq.

Nevada Bar No. 6882

Kathleen A. Wilde, Esq.

Nevada Bar No. 12522

10001 Park Run Drive

Las Vegas, Nevada 89145

Telephone: (702) 382-0711 Facsimile: (702) 382-5816

canderson@maclaw.com

1 11 0 1

kwilde@maclaw.com

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

VII. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Summary judgment is a "salutary device" that contributes to the just, efficient resolution of legal disputes. *See Dredge Corp. v. Husite Co.*, 78 Nev. 69, 89 n.2, 369 P.2d 676, 687 n.2 (1962) (describing summary judgment as a "salutary device" and reasoning that "[t]he very mission of the summary judgment procedure is to pierce the pleadings and to assess the proof in order to see whether there is a genuine need for trial."); *see also Celotex Corp. v. Catrett*, 477 U.S. 317, 327, 106 S. Ct. 2548, 2555 (1986) ("Summary judgment procedure is properly regarded not as a disfavored procedural shortcut, but rather as an integral part of the [] Rules as a whole").

Although summary judgment is not proper where there are genuine issues of material fact, summary judgment is appropriate where one or more elements of the plaintiff's prima facie case is clearly lacking as a matter of law. *See*, *e.g.*, *Butler ex rel. Biller v. Bayer*, 123 Nev. 450, 461, 168 P.3d 1055, 1063 (2007). In this case, the District Court correctly determined that Paulos' state claim for negligence was barred by issue preclusion because the Federal District Court considered the exact same facts and concluded that Officer Baca did not act unreasonably by keeping Paulos "on the concrete for a prolonged period of time while the concrete was excessively hot in over 100 degree weather." Further, because Paulos' bare

negligent hiring, training, and supervision claim implicated judgments susceptible to a policy analysis, the District Court properly concluded that the LVMPD was entitled to discretionary-function immunity under NRS 41.032(2).

Accordingly, and as explained in more detail below, this Court should affirm the District Court's orders because issue preclusion and discretionary immunity defeat Paulos' claims as a matter of law. Alternatively, even if this Court disagrees with portions of the District Court's analysis, it should nevertheless affirm because any error was harmless in light of the undisputed evidence that Paulos sustained burns in 10 to 30 seconds, when all parties agree that the initial 3 minutes and 50 seconds of contact with the ground was reasonable.

VIII. STANDARDS OF REVIEW

This Court reviews an order granting summary judgment order de novo. *See*, *e.g.*, *Butler*, 123 Nev. at 457, 168 P.3d at 1061.

It is well-established that summary judgment is proper if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law. NRCP 56(c); Wood v. Safeway, Inc., 121 Nev. 724, 731, 121 P.3d 1026, 1031 (2005). A factual dispute is genuine when the evidence is such that a rational trier of fact could

return a verdict for the nonmoving party." *Id.* at 731, 121 P.3d at 1031 (citing *Matsushita Electric Indus. Co. v. Zenith Radio*, 475 U.S. 574, 586, 106 S. Ct. 1348, 1356 (1986)).

The burden for demonstrating an absence of genuine issues of material fact lies with the moving party, though "[t]he manner in which each party may satisfy its burden of production depends on which party will bear the burden of persuasion on the challenged claim." Cuzze v. Univ. & Cmty. Coll. Sys. of Nev., 123 Nev. 598, 602, 172 P.3d 131, 134 (2007). Where, as here, the moving party is a defendant that will not bear the burden of persuasion at trial, "the party moving for summary judgment may satisfy the burden of production by either (1) submitting evidence that negates an essential element of the nonmoving party's claim, or (2) 'pointing out . . . that there is an absence of evidence to support the nonmoving party's case." *Id.* at 602-03, 172 P.3d at 134 (quoting *Celotex Corp.*, 477 U.S. at 325, 106 S. Ct. 2548 at 2554). In such cases, "the nonmoving party must transcend the pleadings and, by affidavit or other admissible evidence, introduce specific facts that show a genuine issue of material fact." Id. at 603, 172 P.3d at 134 (citing Wood, 121 Nev. at 732, 121 P.3d at 1031); see also Stockmeier v. State, Bd. of Parole Comm'rs, 127 Nev. 243, 248, 255 P.3d 209, 212 (2011) ("Conjecture and speculation do not create an issue of fact.").

To the extent that the instant case implicates other legal issues, including statutory construction, interpretation of case law, and/or issue preclusion, this Court's review is also de novo. *See*, *e.g.*, *LVMPD v. Blackjack Bonding*, 131 Nev., Adv. Op. 10, 343 P.3d 608, 612 (2015) ("[W]e review the district court's interpretation of caselaw and statutory language de novo."); *Univ. & Cmty. Coll. Sys. v. Sutton*, 120 Nev. 972, 984, 103 P.3d 8, 16 (2004) (noting that "[t]he availability of issue preclusion is a mixed question of law and fact," but holding that de novo review applies because "legal issues predominate.").

IX. <u>LEGAL ARGUMENT</u>

A. PAULOS CANNOT ARGUE THAT ALTERNATIVE OR UNREVIEWED GROUNDS ARE NON-PRECLUSIVE BECAUSE SHE DID NOT RAISE EITHER POINT IN THE DISTRICT COURT.

Paulos argues that "alternative or unreviewed grounds are not issue preclusive." Appellant's Opening Brief ("AOB") at 13. Although the LVMPD Defendants address both issues on the merits below, *see* Subsection B, *infra*, it is unlikely that this Court should even consider Paulos' first sub-argument because it was not raised in the District Court.

It is well-established that a point not urged in the district court "is deemed to have been waived and will not be considered on appeal." *Old Aztec Mine, Inc. v.*

Brown, 97 Nev. 49, 52, 623 P.2d 981, 983 (1981); see also, e.g., State Bd. of Equalization v. Barta, 124 Nev. 612, 621, 188 P.3d 1092, 1098 (2008) ("[T]his court generally will not consider arguments that a party raises for the first time on appeal."). As this Court explained in Schuck v. Signature Flight Support of Nevada, Inc., this rule is not a formalistic trap for unwary litigators. 126 Nev. 434, 437, 245 P.3d 542, 544 (2010). Instead, "the requirement that parties may raise on appeal only issues which have been presented to the district court maintains the efficiency, fairness, and integrity of the judicial system for all parties." Id. (quoting Boyers v. Texaco Refining and Marketing, Inc., 848 F.2d 809, 812 (7th Cir. 1988)).

Admittedly, the series of motions in the District Court was a bit convoluted. But, even if one gives Paulos the benefit of the doubt, none of her responsive pleadings argued that alternative bases for Judge Mahan's decision were non-preclusive or that issue preclusion only applied to the reasoning explicitly upheld in the Ninth Circuit's Memorandum Disposition. *See generally* 4 AA 830-45; 4 AA 1000 to 5 AA 1034; 6 AA 1388-1408; *see also* RA 13-47. Instead, Paulos'

⁷ The Table of Contents to Paulos' Appendix indicates that her opposition carries over to Volume 5. It appears, however, that most of her opposition is omitted since Volume 5 begins with page 1030.

"Opposition to Defendant LVMPD's Motion to Dismiss and Motion for Summary Judgment and Counter-Motion for Sanctions" contrasted the elements of a §1983 claim with the elements of a Nevada claim for negligence and argued that negligence was not "necessarily litigated" because Judge Mahan declined to exercise supplemental jurisdiction. 4 AA 837-38. In opposing the motion for reconsideration, Paulos unsurprisingly argued that the District Court's November 2015 order was not clearly erroneous. RA 14, 20. In doing so, Paulos reiterated her previous arguments that reasonableness for purposes of §1983 is a different standard and that negligence was not "necessarily litigated" in the federal case. RA 18-19. Paulos filed her opposition to the 2016 motion for summary judgment in July 2017, after the Ninth Circuit issued its decision and the District Court lifted the stay. 6 AA 1388. In the opposition, Paulos discussed the dangers of hot asphalt and faulted the LVMPD for its alleged failure to train officers regarding the same. 6 AA 1393. In addition, Paulos argued that issue preclusion did not apply because "the issue previously litigated in Federal Court concerning Baca's use of force concerned Qualified Immunity rather than reasonableness" and, "[l]ikewise, the Ninth Circuit's Order also concerned Qualified Immunity." 6 AA 1396.

Thus, to summarize, the arguments that Paulos now raises in Subsection I(B) of her Legal Argument are notably absent from all three of the oppositions that she

filed in the District Court. As such, this Court need not – and should not – consider theories that Paulos raised for the first time in her opening brief. *See*, *e.g.*, *Dermody v. City of Reno*, 113 Nev. 207, 210, 931 P.2d 1354, 1357 (1997) ("Parties 'may not raise a new theory for the first time on appeal, which is inconsistent with or different from the one raised below."") (quoting *Powers v. Powers*, 105 Nev. 514, 516, 779 P.2d 91, 92 (1989)).

B. THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY CONCLUDED THAT ISSUE PRECLUSION APPLIED BECAUSE PAULOS' §1983 CLAIM AND STATE NEGLIGENCE CLAIM WERE BASED ON IDENTICAL FACTS

Issue preclusion "is based upon the sound public policy of limiting litigation by preventing a party who had one full and fair opportunity to litigate an issue from again drawing it into controversy." *Thompson v. City of N. Las Vegas*, 108 Nev. 435, 439-40, 833 P.2d 1132, 1134-35 (1992); *see also* AOB 12 (citing *Taylor v. Sturgell*, 553 U.S. 880, 128 S. Ct. 2161 (2008), and noting that "[i]ssue preclusion exists to keep parties from relitigating issues that prior litigation conclusively resolved.").

Consistent with this objective, issue preclusion is a proper basis for summary judgment. *See*, *e.g.*, *Kahn v. Morse & Mowbray*, 121 Nev. 464, 474, 117 P.3d 227, 234 (2005); *Bower v. Harrah's Laughlin, Inc.*, 125 Nev. 470, 479-

80, 215 P.3d 709, 717 (2009). In fact, "issue preclusion may be appropriate, even when the causes of action asserted in the second proceeding are substantially different from those addressed in the initial proceeding, as long as the court in the prior action addressed and decided the same underlying factual issues." *Kahn*, 121 Nev. at 474-75; 117 P.3d at 235; *see also New Hampshire v. Maine*, 532 U.S. 742, 748-49, 121 S. Ct. 1808, 1814 (2001) (Opining that issue preclusion applies "whether or not the issue arises on the same or a different claim.").

In reviewing the preclusive effect of a federal decision, including an order granting summary judgment, this Court applies federal law. *See Clark v. Columbia/HCA Info. Servs.*, 117 Nev. 468, 481, 25 P.3d 215, 224 (2001); *Bower*, 125 Nev. at 484, 215 P.3d at 720. Under federal law, issue preclusion applies only to parties whose due process rights have been satisfied through a "full and fair opportunity to litigate the issue." *Oyeniran v. Holder*, 672 F.3d 800, 806 (9th Cir. 2012), *as amended* May 3, 2012; *see also Taylor*, 553 U.S. at 905 128 S. Ct. at 2179-80. In addition, a previous federal decision has a preclusive effect when: (1) the issue a party seeks to preclude is "identical to the one alleged in the prior litigation;" (2) the issue was "actually litigated in the prior litigation" and (3) resolution of the issue was "a critical and necessary part of the earlier

judgment." *Clark v. Bear Stearns & Co., Inc.*, 966 F.2d 1318, 1320 (9th Cir. 1992); *Taylor*, 553 U.S. at 892-93, 128 S. Ct. at 2171.

In this case, there is no question that Paulos' due process rights have been satisfied because the parties in the federal case were identical to the parties in the instant case, *compare* 4 AA 791 *with* 3 AA 616, and, as such, Paulos received her "own day in court." *Richards v. Jefferson Cty., Ala.*, 517 U.S. 793, 798, 116 S. Ct. 1761, 1766 (1996) (discussing "our 'deep-rooted historic tradition that everyone should have his [or her] own day in court") (quoting 18C *Federal Practice and Procedure* §4449, p. 417 (1981)). It also appears undisputed that the "actually litigated" factor is satisfied because Paulos does not deny that the parties completed discovery and fully litigated her claims in the federal court. *See generally* AOB.

And, while Paulos contends that the other two elements of issue preclusion are not satisfied, this Court should reject her arguments and affirm the District Court's order(s) because: (1) Paulos' federal and state cases involve identical issues; and (2) Judge Mahan's determination that Officer Baca acted reasonably, without the use of excessive force, was a critical part of his decision.

1. Paulos' federal §1983 claim involved the exact same issue as her state law claim for negligence – namely, the objective reasonableness of Officer Baca's actions.

All of Paulos' complaints hinge on the allegation that the LVMPD Defendants unreasonably kept her "on the concrete for a prolonged period of time ... in over 100 degree weather." *See* 1 AA 27; 1 AA 48; 3 AA 611. In fact, while Paulos asserted wholly separate causes of action for the alleged violation of her constitutional rights and negligence under Nevada state law, both claims included the exact same allegations, written in the exact same language. *Id*.

It is no surprise that Paulos' complaints included identical language because both of her claims necessarily centered on the same issue – the objective reasonableness of Office Baca's use of force. *See*, *e.g.*, *Belch v. Las Vegas Metro*. *Police Dep't.*, 2012 WL 4610803, *11 (D. Nev. 2012) ("An officer's breach of duty in a negligence claim is analyzed under the reasonableness standard of the Fourth Amendment." (citations omitted)); *Luchtel v. Hagemann*, 623 F.3d 975, 984 (9th Cir. 2010) (rejecting a plaintiff's §1983 excessive force claim and explaining "[b]ecause the officers had reasonable cause to detain and reasonably detained Luchtel, they cannot be liable for negligence."); *see also Graham*, 490 U.S. at 397, 109 S. Ct. at 1872 (In assessing a Fourth Amendment excessive force claim, "the question is whether the officers' actions are 'objectively reasonable' in light of the

facts and circumstances confronting them."); *Driscoll v. Erreguible*, 87 Nev. 97, 101, 482 P.2d 291, 294 (1971) (to sustain a claim for negligence, a plaintiff must prove that the defendant failed to "exercise the degree of care in a given situation which a reasonable [person] under similar circumstances would exercise.").

This is not to say that a §1983 *claim* for excessive force is the same as a negligence *claim* under Nevada state law. Indeed, while Paulos argues that simple negligence is its own cause of action, with its own elements, *see* AOB 16-18, her obvious argument is beside the point because Judge Bare granted summary judgment on the basis of *issue* preclusion. *See*, *e.g.*, *Alcantara ex rel. Alcantara v. Wal-Mart Stores*, *Inc.*, 130 Nev. 252, 257, 321 P.3d 912, 915 (2014) (addressing the differences between claim preclusion and issue preclusion); 18 *Fed. Prac. & Proc. Juris.* §4401 (3d ed., updated Sept. 2018). It is thus irrelevant how Paulos labeled her claims so long as the underlying *issues* in both cases were the same. *See*, *e.g.*, *New Hampshire v. Maine*, 532 U.S. at 748-49, 121 S. Ct. at 1814.

Paulos' complaints are compelling evidence that the issues were the same. After all, Paulos alleged in *both* matters that Officer Baca acted unreasonably by keeping her on the concrete longer than necessary on a summer day. Further, because reasonableness is an objective standard that depends on the circumstances, the issue in both cases was necessarily the same. After all, the alleged danger of

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